# AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited

# **Annual Report**

Company registered number 11083865 31 December 2020

\*AAE4BW01\*
A15 30/09/2021 #229
COMPANIES HOUSE

# Contents

Company information	3
Strategic report	4
Directors' report	10
Independent auditors' report to the members of AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited	15
Consolidated profit and loss account	19
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income	20
Consolidated and Company balance sheets	21
Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity	22-23
Consolidated cash flow statement	24
Notes to the financial statements	25

# Company information

Company registered number 11083865

# Directors

J Brocklebank

C Benson

D Kassler

# Registered office

1-5 Poland Street London England W1F 8PR

# Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
The Maurice Wilkes Building
St John's Innovation Park
Cowlcy Road
Cambridge
CB4 0DS

# Strategic report

#### Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors present their strategic report on AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiary companies (together the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 2020.

#### Ownership

The AI Wertheimer Holdings Group is owned by funds containing institutional owners and is controlled by funds advised by Advent International Corporation, a private equity investment company.

Advent International Corporation ("Advent") is one of the largest and most experienced global private equity firms. With offices on four continents, Advent has established a globally integrated team of more than 470 investment professionals, focused on buyouts and growth equity investments in five core sectors. Since beginning its private equity strategy in 1989, Advent has invested \$54 billion in over 370 private equity investments across 41 countries, and as of 30 September 2020, managed \$66 billion in assets. For more than 30 years Advent International has sought to invest in well-positioned companies and partner with management teams to create value through sustained revenue and earnings growth.

The board that directs and controls the Group operates at the level of a subsidiary company, Wertheimer UK Limited.

#### History of the Group

The Williams Lea Tag business began in 1820 when Wertheimer Lea was established to supply print to the financial sector.

In 2006 Deutsche Post DHL Group acquired the Williams Lea Group enhancing its global reach. By November 2017 and following the acquisition of Tag Worldwide in 2011, the Williams Lea Tag Group was a single global business, delivering integrated marketing and communications services and offering business process outsourcing to large companies.

In November 2017, AI Wertheimer Holdings Limited and its Williams Lea Tag subsidiaries were acquired by funds advised by Advent International Corporation.

# **Business** model

The Williams Lea Tag Group is a global provider of marketing production and skilled business-critical support services worldwide. The Group comprises two strategic business units, Williams Lea and Tag.

Today we share one purpose: to create value for our clients by working smarter with fewer resources, enhancing efficiencies, improving their customers' experience and strengthening their brand reputation. Our clients and their customers have always been at the heart of everything we do. Our long-term partnerships, great relationships, exceptional employees and leading technology have been the driving force behind our success.

Williams Lea is a global provider of skilled business-critical support services to financial, legal and professional services firms. From our humble beginnings as a print shop in London, to our position today as a global outsourcing leader, our business is built on a strong heritage, great relationships and a talented team. Williams Lea delivers efficient business processes in complex and highly regulated environments, connecting people, processes and technology to manage documents and streamline key back office functions.

Tag is a leading end-to-end global creative production and sourcing partner to brands and agencies. As a production and sourcing specialist, Tag offers a complementary skillset to in-house teams and advertising agencies to bring to life, extend and deploy creative ideas. As a client partner, Tag brings a consultative and collaborative approach to developing bespoke solutions for unique needs.

#### Strategy

The key future strategies to deliver growth in the Group's marketing production and skilled business critical support services are as follows:

- The creation of two strategic business units Williams Lea (Business Support Services) and Tag (Marketing Production and Sourcing Services) with separate leadership and business plans.
- Investment in broader digital capabilities to drive efficiencies and improve the client offering.
- Customer excellence programme to drive commercial effectiveness including investment in next generation technology platforms to enhance client experience and value.
- Building the mergers and acquisition pipeline to bolster Group capabilities and to bring in additional service lines as well as continued geographical expansion.

#### Review of the business

Revenues for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to €975.5m (2019: €1.1bn), with EBITDA before exceptional items of €39.9m (2019: €43.9m). The business exited 2019 with strong growth, this continued into the first quarter of 2020, however, was impacted by COVID-19. Given the uncertainty resulting from the global pandemic, businesses slowed the outsourcing of support services and marketing activities. The adverse impact on demand was not as severe as originally expected in response to the pandemic, with continuing and strengthening of the new and key business pipelines. The mix of customers and actions undertaken by the group was a key driver of the reduced impact.

The key performance measures of the business are set out in the table below:

	Year ended	Year ended
Key performance indicators	31 December 2020	31 December 2019
Revenues	€975.5m	€1,101.2m
EBITDA before exceptional costs	€39.9m	€43.9m
Exceptional items	€36.6m	€30.4m
Operating cash flow	€46.1m	€14.5m

Exceptional items of €36.6m (2019: €30.4m) were incurred during the year primarily relating to operational restructuring projects, business transformation projects and finalising the integration of finance and human resources systems (further detail can be found in note 5 to the financial statements). These projects all form part of and underpin the Board's strategies to align the business into two strategic business units and to deliver improved future performance for the shareholders.

The accumulated loss for the financial year, including exceptional items, amounted to €77.0m (2019: €44.6m) and as at the year end, the Group had net assets of €5.9m (2019: net assets €82.2m).

## Outlook

During 2020 the management and directors of the business have acted to mitigate the impact of COVID-19, and our 2021 plans consider the implications of decisions taken. For Tag, regions encouraged clients to move spend towards digital, video & postproduction services, whilst other industries benefited from an acceleration of the shift to digital offerings (e.g. Pharma and Consumer Retail). Across Williams Lea, impacts primarily were to onsite services as client offices remain closed to staff, however, Back Office, Document Processing and Presentation Services remained strong as remote working continued, and these services remained critical in delivering client needs. More widely, the nature of the multi-country business offered further protection of volumes as markets were not locked down at the same time, as well as certain regions not being as severely impacted as others due to strong recovery (e.g. APAC).

# Tag

Within the creative production and sourcing market, the Directors see growth in in-housing and a swing towards a mixed model, which is a very positive backdrop for the Group. The Group is able to offer customers, who are seeking end to end services across channels, a service which reduces cost and improves brand consistency, whilst maintaining a highly responsive and flexible operating model that also has a global reach.

Customers have been caught out by digital disruption, have been struggling to provide end-to end services and are hindered by a lack of transparency. A number of smaller start-ups are also harnessing the in-housing trend and are a potential long-term threat but due to the diverse offering of Tag have so far had little or no impact.

#### Williams Lea

Within the skilled business critical support market, both legal and investment banking clients are targeting reductions in real estate and employment costs which is again a very positive development for the Group. Clients are looking for digital workflow technology to improve their internal processes.

A number of specialist competitors in both legal and investment banking are emerging at the higher end of the market. However, Williams Lea has few competitors that can compete effectively with the Group because of its equivalent geographic scale and breadth of services.

Regulations affecting the Group include General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") and Cyber Security. GDPR favours scale providers with the technology and process compliance capabilities of the Group. Cyber protection is becoming increasingly important and the Group is responding to this with a significant investment in people and technology.

# Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group assesses risk at board level and through other operational boards which meet on a regular basis. The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out below:

#### General business environment

The business of the Group substantially depends on the financial health of our customers which in turn depends on the global macro-economic environment.

# Competition

The Group operates in a competitive environment and all contracts and processes are subject to regular analysis with the aim of retaining existing customers, growing the customer base and optimising the economic performance under customer contracts.

#### **Employees**

The hard work, expertise and commitment of its employees are essential to the commercial success of the Group and a high priority is placed on the effectiveness of employment practices and human resource development initiatives. Actions and programmes in relation to employee engagement and involvement are described in the Directors' report.

# Information technology and cyber risks

Information technology is an integral part of the Group's service capability and its business performance depends heavily on the functioning and performance of its applications and infrastructure. Active risk management processes are in place to maximise the efficiency of the Group's technology. The directors continuously monitor data security compliance and risk.

# Financial risk management

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including inflation risk, credit risk, contract risk, market risk and liquidity risk.

#### Inflation risk

Inflation arises when goods and services sold by the Group are purchased from external suppliers. These costs are subject to regular review and competitive procurement processes. The Group is partially exposed to commodity price risk as a result of key raw materials historically showing volatility in price. These relate principally to the strategic sourcing service line and are also subject to regular review and competitive procurement processes. Where possible the Group passes the effects of such volatility on to its customers. Where not possible, this is communicated and the risk assessed by senior management.

#### Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk management follows normal best practice and includes varying levels of credit assessments according to customer size and active credit performance management through key performance indicators such as days' sales outstanding.

#### Contract risk

Contract risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group arising from contract breach. Contract risk is managed by a formal contract approval processes, active operational management and, to in some cases, certain risks are insured.

#### Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Group's income or costs

- Foreign currency risk is attributable to investments, financing measures and operating activities. Cross-currency swaps are used to limit foreign currency risk. These transactions relate to the exchange rate hedging of all payments covering general business activities that are not made in the functional currency of the respective Group companies. The principle of matching currencies applies to the Group's financing activities.
- Hedging transactions performed in 2020 as part of foreign currency risk management related primarily to sterling, the US dollar and the Euro. Further details are set out in note 17.
- Interest rate risk results from changes in market interest rates, primarily for medium and long term debt. Interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and other types of interest rate contracts are entered into to hedge against this risk primarily under fair value or cash flow hedges, and depending on market conditions.

# Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Group aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation by its operations and maintains funds on demand to meet all operational expenses including the servicing of financial obligations. Further details of the Group's bank facilities and other borrowings are set out in note 18.

#### Borrowings

The Group's borrowings were put in place at the time of the acquisition by Advent International on 30 November 2017.

# Senior facilities

The Group's financing facilities with a syndicate of lenders comprise senior loans of €120m and a revolving credit facility of €30m, which are secured by a charge over all of the Group's subsidiaries. Interest is charged at a rate of EURIBOR (subject to a 1% floor when EURIBOR is less than zero) plus a margin of 5% and 3% on the senior loans and revolving credit facility, respectively. Interest on the senior loans is payable on a quarterly basis. All of the senior bank loans are repayable on 30 November 2022. Drawdowns of the revolving facility during the year ended 31 December 2020 which remained outstanding at year end totalled €25.4m (2019: €25.9m).

The senior facilities agreement includes one financial covenant, a leverage ratio, which is tested on a quarterly basis. The covenant requires that the Group's net debt as at 31 December 2020 does not exceed 3.00 times (2019: 3.25 times) its adjusted consolidated EBITDA. At all testing periods during the year, the covenant tests were met. At year end the Group's leverage ratio was 1.63 (2019: 1.77).

# Hedging instruments

The Group has entered into forward foreign currency contracts to mitigate the exchange rate risk for certain foreign currency payables incorporating an interest rate swap to hedge the Group's exposure to interest rate movements on the Senior bank loans. Further details are set out in note 17.

#### Payment in kind loan

The Group's borrowings as at 31 December 2020 include a PIK loan of €124.1m (2019: €115.4m) provided by Deutsche Post DHL. No repayments of the loan were made during the year (2019: nil). The loan is secured by a charge over all of the Group's subsidiaries and interest is charged at a rate of EURIBOR (subject to a 0% floor when EURIBOR is less than zero) plus a scaled margin starting at 6.25% in year one and rising to 9.5% in year six. The PIK loan is repayable on 31 May 2023. Interest is capitalised and will be settled on the date of final repayment.

#### Directors' statement on Section 172 (1)

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires the directors to act in a way which they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard to a range of matters outlined in s172(1) (a) – (f) as follows:

- (a) the likely consequences of any decisions in the long term;
- (b) the interests of the Group's employees;
- (c) the need to foster the Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
- (d) the impact of the Group's operations on the community and the environment;
- (e) the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and
- (f) the need to act fairly between members of the Group.

Key decisions and matters that are of strategic importance to the Group are appropriately informed by s172 factors.

Through an open and transparent dialogue with key stakeholders, the board has been able to develop a clear understanding of their needs, assess their perspectives and monitor their impact on the Group's strategic ambition and culture.

As part of the board's decision-making process, the board and its committees consider the potential impact of decisions on relevant stakeholders whilst also having regard to a number of broader factors, including the impact of the Group's operations on the community and environment, responsible business practices and the likely consequences of decisions in the long term.

The board delegates authority for day-to-day management of the Group to executives and senior management. The board engages management in setting, approving and overseeing execution of the business strategy and related policies. The board reviews risk and compliance, legal matters, the Group's financial and operational performance; stakeholder related matters, diversity and inclusivity and corporate responsibility matters at board meetings. This is done through the consideration and discussion of reports which are sent in advance of each board meeting and through presentations to the board.

The Group's key stakeholders and how the board engages with them include:

- Institutional investors board reporting, regular discussions and meetings with senior executives;
- Customers meetings and discussions with leadership teams who are involved in the commerical dialogue and engagement with our customers and face-to-face meetings with key customers;
- Suppliers meetings and discussions with leadership teams who are involved in the commercial dialogue and engagement withsuppliers and face-to-face meetings with key suppliers;
- Employees news updates via email and intranet, townhalls and employee surveys;
- Finance providers monthly reporting on the Group's financial position and cash flows, provision of quarterly covenant reporting; discussions and meetings.

Section 172 factors applied by the board are discussed in this Strategic report and the Directors report, in particular:

- the Business model section in this Strategic report on page 4 provides details of the Group's customer engagement and focus;
- the Strategy and Outlook sections of this Strategic report on pages 5 and 6 give further information on how the Group responds to the changing global marketplace and intends to deliver growth for investors and further enhance customer experience and value;
- information on the Group's financial risk management and covenant reporting to lenders can be found in this Strategic report on pages 6, 7 and 8;
- the Group's risk profile and management are included in the Principal risks and uncertainty section of this Strategic report on page 6;
- information on how the Group fosters business relationships with customers, suppliers and others can be found in the Director's report on page 10;
- details of how the Group has considered the impact of its operations on the community and environment are included in the Directors' report on page 12 and 13; and
- information on how the Group has engaged with employees is described in the Directors' report on pages 12.

#### Statement of compliance

The Directors consider the annual report and financial statements to comply with all aspects of the Guidelines for Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity, except for the filing of the report and accounts within 6 months of the group year end.

By order of the board

C Benson

29 September 2021

1-5 Poland Street

London

England

W1F-8PR

# Directors' report

## Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

#### **Future developments**

The Directors intend to follow the strategy as set out in the Strategic report, to build a strong, independent marketing and communications services business.

#### Commentary

The commentary on the operational performance of the Group in the period is set out in the Strategic report.

#### Dividende

No dividends were paid or are recommended for the year (2019: none).

#### Donations

During the year no political or charitable donations were made by the Group or the Company (2019: none).

#### Financial instruments

Details of financial instruments are provided in the Strategic report.

#### Research and development

The Group's research and development activities are focussed on technology and efficiency activities, with specific attention to the digitalisation of marketing assets, process improvements in workflow management, and in developing solutions to data analytics relevant and available to clients.

#### Going concern

The directors make an estimate of the future performance of the Group and Company in order to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. When assessing future performance, the directors consider financial projections which reflect current expected market conditions, liquidity requirements and opportunities and risks. On the basis of their assessment, the directors are confident that the Group and Company has adequate resources to continue to trade for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the date of approving these financial statements. The Group and Company therefore continue to adopt the going concern as a basis for the preparation of these financial statements.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact all stakeholders in the market and industry; however, the Group and Company have navigated these circumstances well due to the customer mix of business, appropriate cost management and cashflow decision making. The impact of and steps taken by the directors to mitigate the impact of the pandemic are set out in the Strategic Report.

#### Directors

The directors who held office during the year and up until the date of approval of the financial statements unless otherwise indicated were as follows:

J Brocklebank

C Benson

D Kassler

None of the directors hold any interest in the shares of the Group or Company.

Messrs Brocklebank and Benson are representatives of Advent International Corporation. Summary details for each of the current directors are shown below.

James Brocklebank, Managing Partner Advent International plc, London

Experience: James Brocklebank joined Advent in 1997. Based in London, he co-chairs Advent's global Executive Committee and is co-head of the firm's European business where he is also responsible for the European business and financial services sector team. Prior to Advent, James worked on international mergers and acquisitions in the London office of investment bank Baring Brothers and its affiliate Dillon, Read & Co. in New York. James has an MA in Geography from Cambridge University.

<u>Investments:</u> James has worked on 17 Advent investments, including Concardis GmbH, Equiniti, GFKL, Nets, Nexi.

V. Group, Williams Lea Tag and Worldpay.

Directorships: Current: Nexi, Nets Holding, V. Group Limited, Williams Lea Tag

Previous: Equiniti, MACH, Tertio Telecoms, Worldpay, Nexi

#### Chris Benson, Director Advent International plc, London

Experience: Chris Benson joined Advent in 2012. Previously, he worked for Actis, an emerging market private equity

fund, making investments across Africa, Asia and Latin America. Prior to Actis, he was a consultant with OC&C Strategy Consultants in London.

Chris has an MA in Philosophy, Politics and Economics from Oxford University and an MBA from Harvard Business School, where he was a Fulbright Scholar.

Investments: Chris has worked on Advent's investments in Nexi, Hermes, Towergate, V.Group, Williams Lea Tag and Worldpay.

Directorships: Current: Williams Lea Tag

### David Kassler, Group CEO, Williams Lea Tag and CEO, Tag

Experience: David is an experienced executive with a 28-year track record of leading transformations in the Consumer, Media and Creative Industries. After spending 6 years as an Operating Partner in private equity with Terra Firma where (amongst other roles) he was Chairman of leading German retailer Tank & Rast. He has spent the last decade as CEO of private equity-backed businesses including the global music label EMI Music and Film and TV content platform Deluxe Entertainment. Earlier in his career David was a Marketing Director in the Czech beer industry, and a Strategy Consultant with OC&C. He is also a co-founder of the synchronised mobile video platform DeviceMesh where he is a non-executive director. David is a dual British/American citizen who lives in the UK.

Directorships: Current: Williams Lea Tag, DeviceMesh

#### Qualifying third-party and pension scheme indemnity provisions

A comprehensive insurance policy is in place against certain liabilities which could arise from a negligent act or a breach of duty by the Company's directors and officers and those of its subsidiaries in the discharge of their duties. This is a qualifying third party indemnity provision, which was in force throughout the financial year and at the date of approval of the financial statements.

#### **Employees**

The Group believes that the wellbeing of its employees and their active participation in two-way communication forums is fundamental to the success of the business. Regular meetings, conference calls and webcasts are held where Company strategy and operational matters are discussed. Training is provided according to structured training and development plans for employees at all levels.

Employee engagement surveys are conducted annually and the most recent one had a higher participation rate than in recent years. The results of the survey are built into communication and consultation plans for each employee or, where more relevant, Group of employees.

Full consideration is given to all applications for employment and to treat all staff fairly, regardless of gender, religion, race, age or disability. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Company's policy, where practicable, to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and promotion opportunities to disabled employees.

Senior employees participate directly in the success of the business through the Group's bonus schemes.

#### Gender diversity information

The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities in employment and eliminating unlawful and unfair discrimination in employment and against clients.

The Group values the differences that a diverse workforce brings to the organisation and will not discriminate because of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race (which includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins), religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation (each of these being a "protected characteristic" in discrimination law). It will not discriminate because of any other irrelevant factor and will build a culture that values openness, fairness and transparency.

The gender split of the Group's work force at the end of 31 December 2020 is set out below:

	Male	Female	Non-binary	Not declared	Total
Board	2	•	-	-	2
Senior management	16	5	-	•	21
Total workforce	4 799	3 652	3	44	8 498

In accordance with the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2018, the Company published our Gender Pay Gap Analysis which can be viewed on the Company website at <a href="https://www.wlt.com/gender-pay-gap-analysis">https://www.wlt.com/gender-pay-gap-analysis</a>

### Environmental matters

The Group recognises that environmental issues are a fundamental challenge for the global community. The business is committed to managing the environmental impacts that arise through the lifecycle of its products and services

The Group has in place an Environmental Management System that demonstrates our commitment to environmental protection, pollution prevention, waste reduction and the preservation of our natural resources. We recognise our responsibility to manage the environmental impacts that arise through operations and the need to support our clients in achieving their environmental objectives. We believe we can affect positive environmental change within the market in which we operate and within the supply chain, that supports our products and services.

The Board supports our integrated Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) policy as it seeks to add value by safeguarding our reputation, minimising loss, improving our sustainability performance and providing continued service delivery.

Our SHEQ Policy sets the high-level structure within which the Group can meet its legal, regulatory and contractual obligations. We will identify our environmental aspects and impacts within our operations and manage these in accordance with good industry practice.

The Group's SHEQ objectives include:

- Our aspiration is for no accidents, no harm to people and no damage to the environment.
- We continuously strive to improve our performance and the quality of our delivered products and services, health & safety risk management, and environmental impact reduction, through measurable SHEQ targets.
- We strive to deliver world leading products and services that create and retain highly satisfied customers, through the development and implementation of quality processes and working practices.
- · We will report our SHEQ performance in a factual and understandable way, both internally and publicly.
- Business level SHEQ objectives will be defined, reviewed and agreed by the Executive Committee and communicated to all employees.

Our environmental management system is aligned to the ISO 14001 framework and in specific locations is certified against this standard. Key environmental aspects and impacts for the organisation include CO2 emissions, waste management and resource use.

The organisation publishes information on the CDP portal about its climate change impacts and CO2 emissions.

The business also takes part in the EcoVadis scheme to disclose its performance in relation to Corporate Social Responsibilities (CSR) to relevant interested parties. During the 2020 submission the Group achieved a gold rating from EcoVadis with 69%.

# Social, community and human rights issues

The Group is developing its Corporate Social Responsibility strategy to widen its reach and measure its impact across the many communities we engage with. The Group conducted its first Corporate Social Responsibility assessment-in-January 2018 using the EcoVadis methodology and platform, where a Silver Rating was achieved: Our impact was assessed across four themes: environment, fair labour practices, ethics/fair business practices, and supply chain, and against 21 key CSR indicators.

Pursuant to Section 54(1) of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 the Group has taken and is continuing to take adequate practices to ensure that modern slavery or human trafficking is not taking place within our business or supply chain.

Modern slavery encompasses slavery, servitude, human trafficking and forced labour. The Group has a zero-tolerance approach to any form of modern slavery. We are strongly committed to playing our part in eradicating modern slavery by ensuring we act ethically and with integrity and transparency in all business dealings and to putting effective systems and controls in place to safeguard against any form of modern slavery taking place within the business or supply chain.

Globally, the Group's employees have participated and volunteered across a wide range of charitable initiatives including: Make-A-Wish International; the World's Biggest Coffee morning with MacMillan in UK; the Australian Red Cross, assisting with the recovery of areas devasted by bushfires; supporting beach clean ups and many other children's charities, all aiding the underprivileged in the community.

#### Branches outside the UK

During the 2020 reporting year, the subsidiaries of the Group operated branches in: Denmark, Korea, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Poland, Romania, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Taiwan, Turkey, the USA and the UAE.

#### Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the group and the company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland", and applicable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprisings FRS 102 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the group's and company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

#### Directors' confirmations

In the case of each director in office at the date the Directors' report is approved:

- so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group and Company's auditors are unaware; and
- they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group and Company's auditors are aware of that information.

# Independent auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and are deemed to be reappointed under Section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

29 September 2021

1-5 Poland Street London England W1F 8PR

# Independent auditors' report to the members of AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited

#### Report on the audit of the financial statements

#### Opinion

In our opinion, AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited's Group financial statements and Company financial statements (the "financial statements"):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of the group's loss and the group's cash flows for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland", and applicable law); and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2020; the Consolidated profit and loss account and Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated cash flow statement, and the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

## **Basis for opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

#### Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group's and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

# Independent auditors' report to the members of AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited (continued)

#### Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' report.

#### Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

# Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

# Independent auditors' report to the members of AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited (continued)

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to employment laws, tax legislations and equivalent local laws and regulations applicable to significant component teams, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue and journal entries that debit balance sheet and credit the income statement to improve results, and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

- Discussions with management including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;
- Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;
- Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations (for example credit to revenue with a debit entry to an unexpected account), journals which debit the balance sheet and credit the income statement, or journals posted by senior management;
- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to impairment of intangible assets and goodwill and valuation of defined benefit scheme liabilities.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

# Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

# Independent auditors' report to the members of AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited (continued)

# Other required reporting

# Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Andy Grimbly Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Cambridge

29 September 2021

# Consolidated profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2020

for the year ended 31 December 2020			
		Year ended	Period ended
		31 December	31 December
	Note	2020	2019
		€'000	€'000
Revenue	3	975,526	1,101,177
EBITDA before exceptional items	4	39,908	43,931
Exceptional items	5	(36,616)	(30,410)
Amortisation	6	(32,643)	(37,075)
Depreciation	6	(7,189)	(10,410)
Operating loss	6	(36,540)	(33,964)
Interest receivable and similar income	8	1,730	4,633
Interest payable and similar expenses	9	(31,879)	(20,917)
Loss before taxation		(66,689)	(50,248)
Tax on loss	10	(10,267)	5,610
Loss for the financial year/period		(76,956)	(44,638)
Loss attributable to owners of the parent		(74,493)	(43,464)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests		(2,463)	(1,174)
		(76,956)	(44,638)

# Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2020

yo, meyem enacus, zecember 2020	Note	Year ended 31 December 2020 €'000	Period ended 31 December 2019 €'000
Loss for the year/period		(76,956)	(44,638)
Other comprehensive income/(expense):			
Currency translation differences		639	807
Remeasurement of net defined benefit obligation	19	9	(6)
Deferred tax arising on gains/(losses) recognised in this statement		-	-
Other comprehensive income for the year/period, net of tax		648	801
Total comprehensive loss for the year/period		(76,308)	(43,837)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the parent		(73,866)	(42,684)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests		(2,442)	(1,153)
		(76,308)	(43,837)

# Consolidated and Company balance sheets

At 31 December 2020

ALSI December 202 V		Group	Group	Company	Company
	Note	2020	2019	2020	2019
		€'000	€,000	€'000	€,000
Fixed assets					
Intangible assets	11	236,869	275,498	-	-
Tangible assets	12	22,750	27,230	-	-
Investments	13	-	-	177,403	177,403
		259,619	302,728	177,403	177,403
Current assets					
Inventories	14	7,359	8,912	-	-
Debtors	15	209,291	284,239	603	603
Cash at bank and in hand		55,398	46,092		
		272,048	339,243	603	603
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year	16	(246,531)	(280,312)	-	-
Net current assets		25,517	58,931	603	603
Total assets less current liabilities		285,136	361,659	178,006	178,006
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year	17	(250,210)	(259,787)	-	-
Post-employment benefits	19	(8,472)	(8,205)	-	-
Other provisions	20	(20,591)	(11,496)	-	-
Net assets		5,863	82,171	178,006	178,006
Capital and reserves					
Called up share capital	23	177,307	177,307	177,307	177,307
Share premium account		700	700	700	700
Accumulated losses		(169,496)	(95,003)	(1)	(1)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(2,375)	(3,002)	-	•
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent		6,136	80,002	178,006	178,006
Non-controlling interests	28	(273)	2,169	-	• -
Total equity	•	5,863	82,171	178,006	178,006

The Company has not presented its individual profit and loss account as allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The Company result for the year was €nil (2019: €nil).

The notes on pages 25 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements.

These financial statements on pages 19 to 59 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Chris Benson

Director

Company registered number:

11083865

# \*Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020

Group	Called up share capital €000	premium	Accumulated losses €000		to the owners of the parent	Non controlling interest 6000	Total equity €000
Balance at 1 January 2019	177,307	700	(51,539)	(3,782)	122,686	3,322	126,008
Loss for the year	-	-	(43,464)	-	(43,464)	(1,174)	(44,638)
Other comprehensive income for the year	-	-	-	780	780	21	801
Total comprehensive loss for the year	-	-	(43,464)	780	(42,684)	(1,153)	(43,837)
Balance as at 31 December 2019	177,307	700	(95,003)	(3,002)	80,002	2,169	82,171
Group	Called up share capital €000	Share premium account €000	Accumulated losses €000	Accumulated other comprehensive loss €000	Equity attributable to the owners of the parent	Non controlling interest €000	Total equity €000
Balance at 1 January 2020	177,307	700	(95,003)	(3,002)	80,002	2,169	82,171
Loss for the year Other comprehensive income for the year Total comprehensive loss	- - -	-	(74,493)	627	(74,493) 627 (73,866)	(2,463)	(76,956) 648 (76,308)
for the year  Balance as at 31 December 2020	177,307	700	(169,496)	(2,375)	6,136	(273)	5,863

# Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2020

	Called up share capital €000	Share premium account €000	Accumulated losses €000	Total equity €000
Company	•			
Balance at 1 January 2019	177,307	. 700	(1)	178,006
Loss for the year	•	-	. <b>-</b>	-
Total comprehensive loss for the period	-	-	<u>-</u>	-
New shares issued	-	-	-	-
Total transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity	-	, -	-	-
Balance as at 31 December 2019	177,307	700	(1)	178,006
Company				
Balance at 1 January 2020	177,307	700	(1)	178,006
Result for the year	-	-	-	-
Total comprehensive loss for the year	•	-	-	-
Balance as at 31 December 2020	177,307	700	(1)	178,006

# Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 December 2020

		Year ended 31 December	Period ended 31 December
	Note	2020 €'000	2019 <b>€'000</b>
		C 000	C 000
Net cash from operating activities	25	54,437	15,432
Taxation paid		(8,294)	(966)
Net cash generated from operating activities		46,143	14,466
Cash flow from investing activities			
Payment of deferred consideration on acquired subsidiaries		(2,052)	(3,633)
Purchase of intangible fixed assets	11	(6,798)	(18,929)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets	12	(7,921)	(10,919)
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets		995	473
Interest received	8	1,730	4,632
Net cash used in investing activities		(14,046)	(28,376)
Cash flow from financing activities			
Receipts from revolving credit facility	25	999	25,401
Interest paid		(21,493)	(11,836)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities		(20,494)	13,565
Net (increase)/decrease in cash and cash equivalents		11,603	(345)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period		46,092	45,793
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents		(2,297)	644
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year/period		55,398	46,092
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:			
Cash at bank and in hand		55,398	46,092
		55,398	46,092

The Company is a qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 102 and has elected to take the exemption provided by FRS 102, para 1.12 (b) not to present the Company cash flow statement.

#### Notes to the financial statements

#### 1 Accounting policies

#### General information

Al Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited ('the Company') and its subsidiaries ('the Group') provide marketing and communications services

AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England. The address of its registered office is 1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR.

#### Statement of compliance

The Group and individual financial statements of AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited have been prepared in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland" ("FRS 102").

### Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

#### a. Basis of preparation

These consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group and Company accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

The Company has not presented its individual profit and loss account as allowed under section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006. The Company result for the year was Enil (2019: £nil).

#### b. Going concern

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its own financial resources as well as, from time to time, through bank facilities. The current economic conditions continue to create uncertainty over (a) the level of demand for the Group's products; and (b) the availability of bank finance for the foreseeable future. On 24 December 2019, the Group entered an arrangement with Waireia Temprano 2019-DAC to provide trade receivables financing facilities to its UK subsidiaries with effect from January 2020. It is anticipated that the arrangement will provide UK members of the Group with €51.5m of additional working capital finance.

Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 has added additional uncertainty and risk to future operations of the Group due to the global footprint of its operations. The steps take by the directors to mitigate the impact of the pandemic are set out in the Strategic Report, which is included in these financial statements. The Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance and the impact of COVID-19, show that the Group should be able to operate within the level of its current facilities. After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### c. Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions. The Company has taken advantage of the following exemptions in its individual financial statements on the basis that it is a qualifying entity:

- from the financial instrument disclosures, required under FRS 102 paragraphs 11.39 to 11.48 and paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29, as the information is provided in the consolidated financial statement disclosures;
- from disclosing the Company key management personnel compensation in total, paragraph 33.7; and
- from preparing a statement of cash flows under FRS 102 paragraph 1.12(b), on the basis that it is a qualifying entity and the consolidated statement of cash flows, included in these statements, includes the Company's cash flows.

#### d. Basis of consolidation

The Group consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings together with the Group's share of the results of any associates made up for the year to 31 December 2020.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Where the Group owns less than 50% of the voting powers of an entity but controls the entity by virtue of an agreement with other investors which give it control of the financial and operating policies of the entity it accounts for that entity as a subsidiary.

Where a subsidiary has different accounting policies to the Group, adjustments are made to those subsidiary financial statements to apply the Group's accounting policies when preparing the consolidated financial statements.

An associate is an entity, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the Group holds a long-term interest and where the Group has significant influence. The Group considers that it has significant influence where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the associate. The results of associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Any subsidiary undertakings or associates sold or acquired during the year are included up to, or from, the dates of change of control or change of significant influence respectively.

Where control of a subsidiary is lost, the gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. The cumulative amounts of any exchange differences on translation, recognised in equity, are not included in the gain or loss on disposal and are transferred to retained earnings. The gain or loss also includes amounts included in other comprehensive income that are required to be reclassified to profit or loss but excludes those amounts that are not required to be reclassified.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Adjustments are made to eliminate the profit or loss arising on transactions with associates to the extent of the Group's interest in the entity.

# 1 Accounting policies (continued)

### e. Foreign currency

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in Euros and rounded to thousands. The Company's functional and presentation currency is the Euro.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the dates of the

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate when fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings, hedging activities and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the profit and loss account within 'finance (expense)/income'. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit and loss account within 'Other operating (losses)/gains'.

The trading results of Group undertakings are translated into Euros at the average exchange rates for the period. The assets and liabilities of overseas undertakings, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the period-end. Exchange adjustments arising from the retranslation of opening net investments and from the translation of the profits or losses at average rates are recognised in 'Other comprehensive income' and allocated to non-controlling interest as appropriate.

# f. Revenue recognition

All income relating to normal business operations is recognised as revenue in the profit and loss account. All other income is reported as other operating income.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Group obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its performance. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales taxes or duty.

The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### f. Revenue recognition (continued)

#### Rendering of services

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the buyer, the Group retains no continuing involvement or control, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when delivery of those services is complete. Revenue that meets these criteria but that has not been invoiced is recognised as accrued income. When assessing the value of accrued income management considers factors including selling price, the ageing profile and historical experience. Revenue that has been invoiced but that does not meet the recognition criteria is deferred and any related direct costs are recognised as work in progress.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method.

#### g. Exceptional items

Items which are significant by virtue of their size or nature and which are considered non-recurring are classified as exceptional items. Such items, which include for example restructuring and transformation costs of the Group, are included within the appropriate profit and loss account category but are highlighted separately in the notes to the financial statements. Exceptional items are excluded from the underlying profit measures used by the Board to monitor and measure the underlying performance of the Group (see note 5).

# h. Employee benefits

The Group provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid holiday arrangements and defined contribution pension plans.

## Short term benefits

Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an expense in the period in which the service is received.

# Annual bonus plans

The Group operates a number of annual bonus plans for employees. An expense is recognised in the profit and loss account when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to make payments under the plans as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

# Defined contribution pension plans

The Group operates a number of country-specific defined contribution plans for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Group has no further payment obligations. The contributions are recognised as an expense when they are due. Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds.

### Defined benefit pension plans

The Group operates defined benefit plans for certain employees. A defined benefit plan defines the pension benefit that the employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent upon several factors including age, length of service and remuneration. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### h. Employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit pension plans (continued)

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of the plan assets at the reporting date.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method. Annually the Group engages independent actuaries to calculate the obligation. The present value is determined by discounting the estimated future payments using market yields on high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in sterling and that have terms approximating the estimated period of the future payments ('discount rate').

The fair value of plan assets is measured in accordance with the FRS 102 fair value hierarchy and in accordance with the Group's policy for similarly held assets. This includes the use of appropriate valuation techniques.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income. These amounts together with the return on plan assets, less amounts included in net interest, are disclosed as 'Re-measurement of net defined benefit liability'.

The cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in profit or loss as employee costs, except where included in the cost of an asset, comprises:

- i. the increase in pension benefit liability arising from employee service during the period; and
- ii. the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is recognised in profit or loss as 'Finance expense'.

## Termination benefits

Any payments awarded to individuals where the group decides to terminate employee's employment by way of legislation, contractually or other agreements, are determined to be termination benefits. The group recognises a corresponding liability and expense when it has demonstrably committed either the terminating before the normal retirement date, or as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Either of these will be deemed as demonstrably committed when communicated in a formal plan for the termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal from the plan.

Such payments are measured at the expected expenditure required to be settled at the reporting date. Where these are due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period they shall be measured at their discounted present value.

The Company has no employees and thus there are no employee benefits.

#### i. Taxation

Taxation expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting year. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

### i. Taxation (continued)

Current tax

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the period or prior periods. Tax is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

#### Deferred tax

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

# j. Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. The cost of a business combination is the fair value of the consideration given, liabilities incurred or assumed and of equity instruments issued plus the costs directly attributable to the business combination. Where control is achieved in stages the cost is the consideration at the date of each transaction.

Contingent consideration is initially recognised at estimated amount where the consideration is probable and can be measured reliably. Where (i) the contingent consideration is not considered probable or cannot be reliably measured but subsequently becomes probable and measureable or (ii) contingent consideration previously measured is adjusted, the amounts are recognised as an adjustment to the cost of the business combination.

On acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities unless the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case the value is incorporated in goodwill. Where the fair value of contingent liabilities cannot be reliably measured they are disclosed on the same basis as other contingent liabilities.

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the purchase consideration over the fair values to the Group's interest in the identifiable net assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

On acquisition, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units ('CGU's') that are expected to benefit from the combination.

Goodwill is amortised over its expected useful lives which is estimated to be 10 or 20 years. Goodwill is assessed for impairment when there are indicators of impairment and any impairment is charged to the income statement. No reversals of impairment are recognised.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

## k. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated, impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated, using the straight-line method, to allocate the depreciable amount of the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Brand
 Customer relationships
 Technology platforms
 Goodwill
 7 to 15 years
 15 years
 3 to 5 years
 10 to 20 years

Intangible assets under development are not amortised until they are fully brought into use, at which point they are transferred into the appropriate intangible asset category above. Amortisation is included in administration expenses in the profit and loss account.

Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or useful life have changed, the residual value, useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect the new circumstances.

The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.

Costs associated with maintaining technology platforms are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

- it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;
- management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;
- there is an ability to use or sell the software;
- it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;
- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software are available; and
- the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

# l. Tangible assets

Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the original purchase price, costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use, dismantling and restoration costs.

# Buildings - leasehold improvements

Buildings include short leasehold improvements and are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Plant and machinery and computer and office equipment

Plant and machinery and computer and office equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

### I. Tangible assets (continued)

#### Depreciation and residual values

Depreciation on assets is calculated, using the straight-line method, to allocate the depreciable amount to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

- Buildings

over the period of the lease

- Plant and machinery

10 - 15 years

- Computer and office equipment

3 - 8 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effect of any change is accounted for prospectively.

#### Subsequent additions and major components

Subsequent costs, including major inspections, are included in the assets carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably.

The carrying amount of any replaced component is derecognised. Major components are treated as a separate asset where they have significantly different patterns of consumption of economic benefits and are depreciated separately over its useful life.

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred.

### Assets in the course of construction

Assets in the course of construction are stated at cost. These assets are not depreciated until they are available for use.

#### De-recognition

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. On disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss within operating profit or loss.

# m. Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

#### n. Leased assets

At inception the Group assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers whether the arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.

Leases of assets that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases.

# Operating leased assets

Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

# Finance leased assets

Finance leases are capitalised at commencement of the lease as assets at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Where the implicit rate cannot be determined the Group's incremental borrowing rate is used. Incremental direct costs, incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease, are included in the cost of the asset.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### n. Lease assets (continued)

Finance leased assets (continued)

Assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the asset. Assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date.

The capital element of lease obligations is recorded as a liability on inception of the arrangement. Lease payments are apportioned between capital repayment and finance charge, using the effective interest rate method, to produce a constant rate of charge on the balance of the capital repayments outstanding.

Incentives received to enter into a finance lease reduce the fair value of the asset and are included in the calculation of present value of minimum lease payments. Incentives received to enter into an operating lease are credited to the profit and loss account, to reduce the lease expense, on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

# o. Impairment of non-financial assets

At each balance sheet date non-financial assets not carried at fair value are assessed to determine whether there is an indication that the asset (or asset's cash generating unit) may be impaired. If there is such an indication the recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash generating unit) is compared to the carrying amount of the asset (or asset's cash generating unit).

The recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash generating unit) is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is defined as the present value of the future cash flows before interest and tax obtainable as a result of the asset's (or asset's cash generating unit) continued use. These cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that represents the current market risk-free rate and the risks inherent in the asset.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash generating unit) is estimated to be lower than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account, unless the asset has been revalued when the amount is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any previously recognised revaluation. Thereafter any excess is recognised in profit or loss.

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (or asset's cash generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the revised carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Goodwill is allocated on acquisition to the cash generating unit expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Goodwill is included in the carrying value of cash generating units for impairment testing.

# p. Investments - Company

Investments in subsidiary companies and associates are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

# 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### a. Inventories

All inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to sell. The cost is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale

Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cost includes the purchase price, including taxes and duties and transport and handling directly attributable to bringing the inventory to its present location and condition.

At the end of each reporting period inventories are assessed for impairment. If an item of inventory is impaired, the identified inventory is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell and an impairment charge is recognised in the profit and loss account. Where a reversal of the impairment is required the impairment charge is reversed, up to the original impairment loss, and is recognised as a credit in the profit and loss account.

#### Work in progress and finished goods

Cost of work in progress and finished goods includes all costs incurred in bringing each product and service to its present location and condition. Cost includes direct materials, labour plus attributable overheads based on a normal level of activity.

#### r. Amounts recoverable on contracts

Direct incremental costs incurred on contracts prior to and during service commencement and reimbursable during the contract are included in amounts recoverable on contracts and amortised over the life of the contract.

# s. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, when applicable, are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

# t. Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations might be small. In particular:

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has a detailed, formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected by either starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected and therefore has a legal or constructive obligation to carry out the restructuring; and

Provision is not made for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### t. Provisions and contingencies (continued)

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, except those acquired in a business combination. Contingent liabilities arise as a result of past events when (i) it is not probable that there will be an outflow of resources or that the amount cannot be reliably measured at the reporting date or (ii) when the existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within the Group's control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

#### u. Financial instruments

The Group has chosen to adopt sections 11 and 12 of FRS102 in respect of financial instruments.

#### Financial assets

Basic financial assets and liabilities, including trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables and loans from fellow Group companies are recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. The Group currently has no such financing transactions.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

At the end of each reporting period financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If there is decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial assets, including investments in equity instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction price. Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except that investments in equity instruments that are not publically traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less impairment.

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.

- 1 Accounting policies (continued)
- u. Financial instruments (continued)

#### Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade payables and other payables, bank loans and loans from fellow Group companies are initially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is recognised in profit or loss.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one period or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, are not basic financial instruments.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs or finance income as appropriate, unless they are included in a hedging arrangement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

# Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

# Hedging arrangements

The Group applies hedge accounting for transactions entered into to manage the fair value risks of borrowings. Cross currency interest rate swaps are held to manage the fair value risks which could arise from changes in interest rates and foreign currency rates.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recognised in directly in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, no longer meets the hedging criteria, the hedged debt instrument is derecognised or the hedging instrument is terminated.

#### 1 Accounting policies (continued)

#### v. Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

#### w. Distributions to equity holders

Dividends and other distributions to the Group's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which the dividends and other distributions are approved by the shareholders. These amounts are recognised in the statement of changes in equity.

#### x. Related party transactions

The Group discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the same Group. Where appropriate, transactions of a similar nature are aggregated unless, in the opinion of the directors, separate disclosure is necessary to understand the effect of the transactions on the Group financial statements

#### y. Government grants

Government Grants, including any assistance programmes in respect of COVID, are measured at the fair value of the asset receivable. Where the grant becomes repayable it is recognised as a liability when the definition is met. Management choose to recognise government grants in line with the accrual model:

- i. Grants related to revenue are recognised in income over the period in which the costs are recognised that the grant is intended to compensate. Where the grant is for expenses already incurred then the grant is recognised in the period which it becomes receivable.
- ii. Grants related to assets are recognised in income over the expected useful life of the associated asset. Where such grants are deferred it shall be recognised as deferred income and not deducted from the carrying amount of the asset.

### 2 Accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

#### Key accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires exercise of judgment by management, who are required to make certain assumptions and estimates that may affect the amounts of the assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet, the amounts of income and expenses and the disclosures regarding contingent liabilities. These judgements include estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period are as follows:

#### 2 Accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (continued)

#### Key accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

#### Technology platforms

Development expenditure on internal technology platforms is capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy for intangible assets. Initial capitalisation is based on management's judgement that technical and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a development project has reached a defined milestone. In determining the amounts to be capitalised, management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits.

#### Income taxes

The Group has operating activities around the globe and is subject to local tax laws. Management uses estimates in calculating the amounts of current and deferred taxes in the relevant countries. Although management believes that it has made a reasonable estimate in relation to tax matters that are inherently uncertain, there can be no guarantee that the actual outcome of these uncertain tax matters will correspond exactly to the original estimate made. Any difference between the actual outcomes of these uncertain tax matters could have an effect on the tax liabilities and deferred taxes in the period in which the matter is finally decided.

#### Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group considers whether intangible assets and/or goodwill are impaired. Where an indication of impairment is identified, the estimation of recoverable value requires estimation of the recoverable value of the cash generating units (CGUs). This requires estimation of the future cash flows from the CGUs and also selection of appropriate discount rates in order to calculate the net present value of those cash flows.

#### Estimation of work in progress

The Group makes an estimate of the recoverable value of work in progress. When assessing the recoverable value of work in progress management considers factors including selling price, the ageing profile and historical experience.

#### Impairment of debtors

The Group makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors. When assessing impairment of trade and other debtors, management considers factors including the current credit rating of the debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience.

#### Fair values in business combinations

The fair values of tangible and intangible assets acquired on the acquisition of subsidiaries involves the use of valuation techniques and the estimation of future cash flows to be generated over a number of years. In addition, the estimation of any contingent consideration payable requires estimation of the level of profitability of the business acquired. The estimation of the fair values requires the combination of assumptions including revenue growth, sales mix and volumes and customer churn rates. In addition the use of discount rates requires judgement.

#### Provisions

Provision is made for dilapidations, onerous leases, onerous contracts and employee benefits. These provisions require management's best estimate of the costs that will be incurred based on legislative and contractual requirements. In addition, the timing of the cash flows and the discount rates used to establish net present value of the obligations require management's judgement.

## Defined benefit pension scheme

The Group has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and the present value of the obligation depend on a number of factors, including life expectancy, asset valuations and the discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors in determining the net pension obligation in the balance sheet.

#### 3 Revenue

The table below sets out an analysis of the Group's revenue by geography and business operation.

	Marketing services 2020 €'000	Communication services 2020 €'000	Total 2020 €'000	Marketing services 2019 €'000	Communication services 2019 €'000	Total 2019 €'000
UK, Rest of Europe, Middle		•				
East and Africa	260,649	133,677	394,326	266,454	199,605	466,059
Americas	156,209	51,829	208,038	211,101	208,906	420,007
Asia-Pacific	202,063	171,099	373,162	160,147	54,964	215,111
Total revenue	618,921	356,605	975,526	637,702	463,475	1,101,177

#### 4 EBITDA and net operating expenses

Group FRITDA (Far	rnings before interest, ta	v depreciation and	l amortication) is	calculated as follows.
Group Edil DA (Eur	mines veivre mieresi, ia.	c. uevreciulion unu	umorusuuvii) is	cuicuiuieu us jouows.

	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
Revenue	975,526	1,101,177
Net operating costs	(1,012,066)	(1,135,141)
Operating loss	(36,540)	(33,964)
Depreciation and amortisation	39,832	47,485
Exceptional items	36,616	30,410
EBITDA	39,908	43,931

## Net operating expenses of the Group, including exceptional items (note 5), comprise:

Cost of sales	775,650	835,076*
Administration expenses	253,978	311,328*
Other operating income	(17,562)	(11,263)
	1,012,066	1,135,141

<sup>\*</sup> The classification of certain costs which relate to revenue generating activities totalling €316.4m has been changed from Administration expenses to Cost of sales, due to a mapping mis-classification in the prior year. There has been no impact on the Profit or loss account or the Statement of changes in equity as a result of the reclassification.

#### 5 Exceptional items

Exceptional items included within net operating expenses (note 4) are categorised as follows:	2020 €'000	2019 €'000
Cost of sales	301	1,962
Administration expenses:		
Recruitment costs	1,770	451
Severance costs	5,548	4,354
Other staff costs	7,336	5,146
Legal and professional fees	7,789	14,275
System separation and implementation costs	8,874	4,159
Other staff and reorganisation costs	4,998	63
	36,616	30,410

As part of the Group's strategy to develop two distinct business units with separate leadership and business models, exceptional costs have been incurred in relation to the planned disposal of the non-core activity: customer communications management. Williams Lea has been restructured during the year to have its own internal governance structure and to disaggregate it from Tag. Significant remediation costs were also incurred relating to the in-year system implementation to make the installed system fit for purpose.

## 6 Operating loss

	2020	2019
Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting)	€'000	€,000
Wages and salaries	355,958	393,008
Social security costs	25,117	29,999
Other pension costs	12,045	11,650
Total staff costs	393,120	434,657
Operating lease rentals	28,711	42,487
Foreign exchange losses	47	3,728
Foreign exchange gains	(122)	(1,716)
Exceptional items (note 5)	36,616	30,410
Amortisation	32,643	37,075
Depreciation	7,189	10,410
Profit/(loss) on disposal of tangible fixed assets	5,802	(1)
Impairment of trade receivables		743

#### 6 Operating loss (continued)

Auditors' remuneration: $\epsilon$ '000 $\epsilon$ '000	9
Audit of the Company and the Group consolidated financial statements 1,134 1,29	i
Amounts receivable by the Company's auditors and their associates in respect of:	
Audit of the Company's subsidiaries 394 403	3
Tax and other advisory services 664 - 1,427	7
Tax compliance services 555 1,005	5

# 7 Employees and directors

#### **Employees**

The Company has no employees (2019: nil). The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

	Number of em	Number of employees	
	Group 2020	Group 2019	
Marketing services	2,111	1,943	
Communication services	455	6,705	
Administration	6,095	921	
	8,661	9,569	

## Directors

Aggregate remuneration paid or payable to the directors, remunerated by the Group during the year, in respect of their services to both the Company and the Group amounted to €554,000 (2019: €785,000). There are no post-employment benefits accruing for the directors under defined benefit schemes (2019: €nil) and no directors are members of defined contribution schemes. No directors exercised any share options during 2020 or 2019.

## Key management compensation

Key management includes the directors and members of senior management. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
Salaries and other short-term benefits	3,001	5,045
Post employment benefits (	109	92
	3,110	5,137

8 Interest receivable and similar income		
	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
Bank interest receivable	16	15
Net foreign exchange gains on senior bank loans	94	4,415
Other interest receivable	1,620	202
	1,730	4,632
9 Interest payable and similar expenses		
	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
Senior bank loan interest	8,157	11,450
Amortisation of capitalised bank fees	1,224	1,255
Payment in kind loan interest	8,776	7,569
Net interest on post-employment benefits	386	206
Interest on receivables factoring	8,735	-
Other interest payable	4,601	437
	31,879	20,917
10 Tax on loss		
Analysis of (charge)/credit in year/period	2020 €'000	2019 €'000
Anaiysis of Charge/Crean in year/periou	C 000	C 000
UK corporation tax		
Current tax on income for the year/period	-	87
Adjustments in respect of previous period	(163)	(68)
Foreign tax		
Current tax on income for the year/period	4,458	958
Adjustments in respect of previous period	4,266	(37)
Total current tax	8,561	940
Deferred tax		
Origination and reversal of timing differences	4,903	(4,448)
Adjustments in respect of previous period	(2,340)	(2,177)
Effect of changes in tax rates	(857)	75
Total deferred tax	1,706	(6,550)
Tax on loss	10,267	(5,610)

#### 10 Tax on loss (continued)

#### Factors affecting the tax credit for the current year

The current tax credit for the year is lower (2019: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 19%). The differences are explained below:

	2020	2019
	€'000	€'000
Total tax reconciliation		
Loss on ordinary activities before tax	(66,689)	(50,248)
Loss multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax	(12,263)	(9,547)
Effects of:		
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes	4,008	3,288
Differences in overseas tax rates	(1,085)	38
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings	742	(1,482)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods	1,764	(2,282)
Deferred tax assets not recognised	12,989	5,757
Foreign exchange and consolidation adjustments	4,112	(1,382)
Total tax (credit)/charge	10,267	(5,610)

#### Factors that may affect future current and total tax charges

The UK corporation tax rate is 19% (2019: 19%).

Legislation to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax from 19% to 17% from 1 April 2020 was enacted on 15 September 2016. Subsequent to the year end, a change to the main UK corporation tax rate was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. The rate applicable from 1 April 2020 now remains at 19%, rather than the previously enacted reduction to 17%. On 22 December 2017, The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted in the US which reduced the federal tax rate from 35% to 21% from 1 January 2018. The revised rates have been used to value deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The tax rate differences between the subsidiaries is due mainly to higher (2019: higher) corporate tax rates in the US.

## 11 Intangible assets

Group	Goodwill €'000	Brands €'000	Customer relationships €'000	Technology platforms €'000	Intangible assets under development €'000	Total €'000
Cost						
At I January 2020	106,178	79,900	85,900	50,995	13,356	336,329
Additions	-	-	-	1,760	5,038	6,798
Disposals	(760)	-	-	(2,171)	-	(2,931)
Transfers	-	-	-	15,798	(15,798)	-
Change in consideration estimate	(7,877)	-	-	-	. <del>-</del>	(7,877)
Foreign currency translation adjustment	(935)	-	-	4,566	(748)	2,883
At 31 December 2020	96,606	79,900	85,900	70,948	1,848	335,202
Accumulated amortisation	I					·
At I January 2020	12,109	11,177	12,104	25,441	-	60,831
Charge for year	7,201	5,365	5,810	14,267	-	32,643
Disposals	(505)	-	-	(986)	-	(1,491)
Foreign currency translation adjustment	325	-	-	6,025	-	6,350
At 31 December 2020	19,130	16,542	17,914	44,747	<u> </u>	98,333
Net book value						
At 31 December 2020	77,476	63,358	67,986	26,201	1,848	236,869
At 31 December 2019	94,069	68,723	73,796	25,554	13,356	275,498
The net book value of bran-	ds includes the fa	ollowing mate	rial items:			
THE HOLDON VALUE OF STAIR	as mondos die N	onoving mate	in the field.		Group 2020 €'000	Group 2019 €'000
Williams Lea Tag brand					60,457	65,531

The directors consider each acquisition separately for the purpose of determining the amortisation period of any goodwill that arises. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of AI Wertheimer Holdco UK Limited and its subsidiaries the Williams Lea Tag Group, on 30 November 2017 is being amortised evenly over the directors' estimate of its useful life of 20 years. Goodwill arising on the 2018 acquisitions of Taylor James Group, THP Group and Popcorn Group is being amortised evenly over the directors' estimated useful life of 10 years for each acquisition.

#### Assessment of impairment of indicators

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there are any indicators that the carrying values of intangible assets may be impaired. The Group is of the opinion that there were no impairment indicators as at 31 December 2020.

## Company

The Company had no intangible assets at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

## 12 Tangible assets

Group	Buildings	Plant and machinery	Computer and office equipment	Assets in the course of construction	Total
Group	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000
Cost					
At 1 January 2020	18,190	5,818	20,823	-	44,831
Additions	1,688	1,131	4,315	787	7,921
Disposals	(766)	(1,286)	(4,763)	(157)	(6,972)
Transfers	47	-	(7)	(40)	-
Foreign currency translation		.*			
adjustment	(581)	1	(420)	-	(1,000)
At 31 December 2020	18,578	5,664	19,948	590	44,780
Accumulated depreciation					
At 1 January 2020	4,565	2,470	10,566	-	17,601
Charge for year	3,258	1,451	2,480	-	7,189
Disposals	(504)	(709)	(2,397)	-	(3,610)
Foreign currency translation					
adjustment	(35)	232	653	•	850
At 31 December 2020	7,284	3,444	11,302	•	22,030
Net book value					
At 31 December 2020	11,294	2,220	8,646	590	22,750
At 31 December 2019	13,625	3,348	10,257		27,230
The net book amount of land and buildi	ngs comprises:				
				2020	2019
		-		€'000	€'000
Short leasehold improvements				11,294	13,625

#### Company

The Company had no tangible assets at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

8,912

# Notes to the financial statements (continued)

#### 13 Investments

Company  Cost 1 January 2020 and at 31 December 2020		Shares in subsidiary under- taking €'000 177,403
Provisions 1 January 2020 and at 31 December 2020		
Net book value At 31 December 2020 and at 31 December 2019		177,403
Details of the subsidiaries that make up the investments in Group entities are included in note 30.		
14 Inventories		
Group	2020 €'000	2019 €'000
Raw materials and consumables Work in progress Finished goods and goods for resale	882 5,692 785	946 7,076 890

There is no significant difference between the replacement cost of the inventory and its carrying amount.

## Company

The Company had no inventories at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

## 15 Debtors

### Group

	2020	2019
	€,000	€'000
Trade debtors	116,223	192,294
Other debtors	20,041	20,574
Corporation tax assets	4,564	5,281
Deferred tax assets (note 21)	18,424	16,353
Prepayments and accrued income	50,039	49,737
- -	209,291	284,239
Trade debtors are stated after deducting provisions for impairment of	(1,638)	(1,958)
Other debtors includes amounts falling due after more than one year of	5,219	5,374

#### Company

The Company had debtors of €603,000 at 31 December 2020 and at 31 December 2019 which represented amounts owed by group undertakings which are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

#### 16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

#### Group

	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
Revolving credit facility (note 18)	25,377	25,934
Trade creditors	78,738	102,008
Corporation tax	7,226	3,602
Other taxation and social security costs	9,505	5,142
Other creditors	45,645	26,094
Accruals and deferred income	80,040	117,532
	246,531	280,312

#### Company

The Company had no creditors (amounts falling due within one year) at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

#### 17 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

#### Group

	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
Senior bank loans (note 18)	115,408	116,853
Payment in kind loan (note 18)	124,145	115,369
Other creditors	10,382	20,249
Derivative financial instruments	275	7,316
	250,210	259,787

#### Other creditors

Other creditors includes contingent consideration payable on the Group's acquisitions.

#### Derivative financial instruments

The Group entered into a series of cross currency interest rate swaps on 29 May 2018 to receive interest at EURIBOR and pay interest at fixed % rates. The swaps were based on a principal amount of €100m, the outstanding principal Euro amount of the Group's Euro senior bank loans, and these instruments matured on 29 February 2020. The Group entered into a series of replacement cross currency interest rate swaps effective 29 February 2020 to receive interest at EURIBOR and pay interest at fixed % rates. The swaps are based on a principal amount of €75m, 75% of the outstanding principal Euro amount of the Group's Euro senior bank loans, and will mature on 28 February 2021. The instruments are used to hedge the Group's exposure to interest rate and currency movements on the senior bank loans. The hedging arrangement fixed the total interest payable on the Euro senior bank loans to an average rate of 7.8%. Payments are made quarterly on the interest rate swaps, until maturity, and on the senior loans payments are made either quarterly or semi-annually, at the discretion of the Group. The fair value of the swaps is €275,000 (2019: €7,316,000). During 2020, a gain of €7,041,000 (2019: loss €4,401,000) was recognised in the profit and loss account

## Company

The Company had no creditors (amounts falling due after more than one year) at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

#### 18 Loans and other borrowings

Group	Revolving credit facility (note 16) €'000	Senior bank loans (note 17) €'000	Payment in kind loan (note 17) €'000	Total €'000
Capital				
At 1 January 2020	25,934	120,573	115,369	261,876
Capitalised interest	-	-	8,776	8,776
Drawdowns	1,267	-	-	1,267
Repayments	(268)	-	-	(268)
Foreign currency translation adjustment	(1,556)	(2,861)	-	(4,417)
At 31 December 2020	25,377	117,712	124,145	267,234
Issue costs				
At 1 January 2020	-	3,720	-	3,720
Amortisation for year	-	(1,224)	-	(1,224)
Foreign currency translation adjustment	-	(192)	-	(192)
At 31 December 2020		2,304		2,304
Net loans and other borrowings				
At 31 December 2020	25,377	115,408	124,145	264,930
At 31 December 2019	25,934	116,853	115,369	258,156

## Senior bank loans

The Group's financing facility with a syndicate of lenders includes senior loans of €120m, which are secured by a charge over all of the Group's subsidiaries. Interest is charged at a rate of EURIBOR or LIBOR (subject to a 1% floor when EURIBOR or LIBOR is less than zero) plus a ratchet margin of 4.5% - 5% depending on the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio. All of the senior bank loans are repayable on 30 November 2022.

### Payment in kind loan

The PIK loan is secured by a charge over all of the Group's subsidiaries. Interest is charged at a rate of EURIBOR (subject to a 0% floor when EURIBOR is less than zero) plus a scaled margin starting at 6.25% in year one and rising to 9.5% in year 6. The PIK loan is repayable on 31 May 2023.

#### Revolving facility

The Group's financing facility with a syndicate of lenders also includes a revolving facility of €30m, which is secured by a charge over all of the Group's subsidiaries. Interest is charged at a rate of EURIBOR or LIBOR (subject to a 1% floor when EURIBOR or LIBOR is less than zero) plus a ratchet margin of 2.25% - 3% depending on the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio. Drawdowns on the revolving facility that were outstanding as at 31 December 2020 totalled €25.5m (2019: €25.9m).

#### Company

The Company had no loans and other borrowings at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

#### 19 Post-employment benefits

#### Group

#### Defined contribution pension schemes

The Group operates a number of country-specific defined contribution plans for its employees. The pension charge for the year represents contributions payable by the Group to the plans and amounted to €12,045,000 (2019: €11,650,000). There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions as at 31 December 2020 (2019: €nil). The plan's assets are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds.

#### Defined benefit schemes

The Group also operates a number of country-specific defined benefit schemes for its employees, in the UK, Germany, France and India. Details of the material Group schemes are disclosed below.

#### a. UK defined benefit bridging pension scheme

The UK Group funds a bridging pension scheme for certain former employees of The Stationery Office Limited who are made redundant between the ages of 50 and 60, with entitlements structured on age and service. The arrangement is closed to further accrual. The scheme was valued by a qualified independent actuary at 31 December 2020, using the assumptions below.

Valuation assumptions	2020	2019
Long term inflation assumption	2.25%	2.20%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment	2.25%	2.20%
Discount rate	0.85%	1.70%

The long term inflation and pension increases assumptions are based on CPI.

The post-retirement mortality assumptions used are based on the S2PA CMI 2017 1.00% LTR and are as follows:

	2020	2019
Life expectancy from age 60	Years	Years
Males currently aged 60	86.4	85.8
Female currently aged 60	88.9	87.9

b. The movements on the Group defined benefit pension scheme liabilities during the year, by country, were as follows:

	UK €'000	Germany €'000	India €'000	Group €'000
At 1 January 2020	7,048	459	698	8,205
Additional amounts provided	710	102	24	836
Credited to other comprehensive expense	-	(9)	-	(9)
Interest cost	119	6	261	386
Amounts paid	(485)	-	(254)	(739)
Foreign exchange adjustment	(54)	-	(153)	(207)
At 31 December 2020	7,338	558	576	8,472

## Company

The Company has no employees and therefore does not operate a pension scheme.

#### 20 Other provisions

		Dilapidations			
	Deferred tax	and onerous	Onerous	Employee	
	(Note 21)	leases	contracts	benefits	Total
	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000
At 1 January 2020	3,051	2,780	3,749	1,916	11,496
Reclassifications	-	4,290	336	4,053	8,679
Utilised during the year	-	(524)	(2,096)	(388)	(3,008)
Charge/(credit) to P&L for the year:					
Additional amounts provided	445	-	-	-	445
Foreign exchange					
translation adjustment	3,973	(134)	(417)	(443)	2,979
At 31 December 2020	7,469	6,412	1,572	5,138	20,591

## Dilapidations and onerous leases

As part of the Group's property leasing arrangements there is an obligation to restore property to its original condition at the end of the lease. The expected cost is charged to profit and loss at the start of the lease and deferred in its entirety. This deferred expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The provision is expected to be utilised between 2020 and 2028 as the leases terminate.

Where leasehold properties become vacant, the Group provides for all costs, net of anticipated income, to the end of the lease or the anticipated date of the disposal or sublease. This provision relates to properties in London which were vacated by Williams Lea Tag during the period before acquisition from 2015 to 2017 and are surplus to the Group's requirements. The provision is expected to be utilised over the life of the related leases in 2020.

#### Onerous contracts

The Group regularly assesses its client and supplier contracts to ensure that the expected economic benefits exceed the unavoidable costs of meeting the Group's obligations under those contracts. Where costs to fulfil a contract are determined as exceeding the economic benefits, an immediate charge is made to profit and loss. The provision is expected to be utilised between 2020 and 2022.

#### Employee benefits

The Group operates a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for employees in the US. Employees decide how much they wish to defer from receipt as income and select the funds in which those funds should be invested. There is no employer investment involvement and no funding assumptions are required.

21 Deferred tax The elements of the deferre	d tax assets an	d provisions are	as follows:			
Group					2020	2019
•					€,000	€,000
Asset (note 15)					1 355	2.257
Accelerated capital allowan	ices				1,355	2,257
Other timing differences					4,742	7,235
Tax losses					10,123	5,086
Post-employment benefits					1,476	1,332 443
Provisions for other liabiliti	es				728	
					18,424	16,353
Provisions (note 20) Acquired intangible assets					7,469	3,051
	Acquired			Post-		
	intangible assets	Tax losses	Capital allowances	employment benefits	Other timing differences	Total
Group	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000
At 1 January 2020	(3,051)	5,086	2,257	1,332	7,678	13,302
Credit/(charge) to P&L for	• • • •					
the year	(445)	2,887	328	93	(2,935)	(72)
Adjustments in respect of		2.414	(1.225)		1 251	2.240
previous period Credit to other	-	2,414	(1,325)	-	1,251	2,340
comprehensive income	_	_	_	101	_	101
Foreign exchange	_					
translation adjustment	(3,973)	(264)	95	(50)	(524)	(4,716)
At 31 December 2020	(7,469)	10,123	1,355	1,476	5,470	10,955
22 Financial instrument	s				c	
Group					2020	2019
•	akt instances	a magazinad at a	morticad cost		€'000	€,000
Financial assets that are do Trade debtors	eoi insirumeni	s meusureu ui u	moruseu cost		116,223	192,294
Other debtors					20,041	20,574
					136,264	212,868
Financial liabilities measu. Derivative financial instrum	-	e through profi	it or loss		275	7,316
Financial liabilities measu	red at amortise	ed cost				
Senior bank loan					115,408	116,853
Payment in kind loan					124,145	115,369
Trade creditors					78,738	102,008
Accruals					80,040	117,532
Other creditors					55,930	46,343
					454,261	498,105

## 23 Called up share capital

## **Group and Company**

Ordinary shares of €0.01 each	2020	2020	2019	2019
	Number 000s	€'000	Number 000s	€'000
Allotted, called up and fully paid				
At 1 January/At date of incorporation	17,730,706	177,307	17,730,706	177,307
At 31 December	17,730,706	177,307	17,730,706	177,307

The ordinary shares issued by the Company have full voting, dividend and capital distribution rights. They do not confer any rights of redemption.

## 24 Capital and other commitments

The Group had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods:

202	2019
€'00	6,000
Not later than one year 17,03	7 18,795
Later than one year and not later than five years 39,85	50,876
Later than five years 25,40	9 33,527
82,30	103,198

## Company

The Company had no capital or other commitments as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

25 Notes to the cash flow statement					
				2020	2019
				€'000	€'000
Loss for the financial year/period				(76,956)	(44,638)
Adjustments for:					
Tax on loss				10,267	(5,610)
Net interest expense				30,149	16,284
Operating loss			-	(36,540)	(33,964)
Amortisation of intangible assets				32,643	37,075
Depreciation and impairment of tangibl	e fixed assets			7,189	10,410
(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible asse	ets			5,802	(1)
Balance sheet remediation				(1,995)	-
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of	trade receivables			-	743
Post-employment benefits less payment				97	(361)
Other provisions less payments				(3,008)	(5,809)
			-	4,188	8,093
Working capital movements					
Decrease/(increase) in inventories				1,553	4,170
(Increase)/decrease in debtors				76,804	(23,618)
Increase in creditors				(28,108)	26,787
Net cash from operating activities			=	54,437	15,432
Analysis of changes in net debt					
				Foreign	
	At beginning		Other non-	exchange	At end of
	of year	Cash flow	cash changes	adjustment	year
	€,000	€'000	€'000	€'000	€'000
Cash at bank and in hand	46,092	11,603	-	(2,297)	55,398
Cash and cash equivalents	46,092	11,603	-	(2,297)	55,398
Revolving credit facility	(25,934)	(999)	-	1,556	(25,377)
Senior bank loans (net of issue costs)	(116,853)	-	(1,224)	2,669	(115,408)
Payment in kind loan	(115,369)	-	(8,776)	-	(124,145)
Total	(212,064)	10,604	(10,000)	1,928	(209,532)

## 26 Related party disclosures

## **Group and Company**

Other than the transactions disclosed in note 7, Employees and directors, the Group's related party transactions were with wholly owned subsidiaries.

#### 27 Controlling party

AI Wertheimer Holdings Limited is the Company's immediate parent undertaking. AI Wertheimer Holdings Limited is the parent undertaking of the largest group of which the Company is a member and for which consolidated financial statements are prepared. Copies of the group financial statements of AI Wertheimer Holdings Limited can be obtained from 1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR.

The directors regard the ultimate controlling party as GPE VIII funds managed by Advent International Corporation.

#### 28 Non-controlling interests

$\sim$				
	r	'n	11	n
•	•	•	•	r

	2020	2019
	€'000	€,000
At 1 January	2,169	3,322
Total comprehensive loss for the year/period attributable to non-controlling interests	(2,442)	(1,153)
A421 Daramban		2.160
At 31 December	(273)	2,169

# 29 Subsidiaries and related undertakings

The list of subsidiaries and other related undertakings is as follows:

Name	Address of the registered	Interest	Nature of business
AI Wertheimer Holdco UK Limited* (UK company no: 11024760)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	83.15%	Holding Company
AI Wertheimer Debtco UK Limited* (UK company no. 11026824)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	97.37%	Holding Company
AI Wertheimer Midco UK Limited* (UK company no. 11027218)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
Wertheimer UK Limited* (UK company no. 10888457)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
AI Wertheimer USA Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Holding Company
Wertheimer Germany GmbH	Menuhinstraße 6, 53113, Bonn, Germany	100%	Holding Company
GoodsandServices.tv Limited* (UK company no. 02302673)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Pre-media production and creative services
LLC Williams Lea	16 Kalanchevskaya St., bld 1, 4/1A2, 129090, Moscow, Russia	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Popcorn Displays (Shenzhen) Co Ltd	DG761, Floor 7, Huajia Plaza, Hubei Road, Dongmen Avenue, Luohu District, Shenzhen, P.R. China	100%	Non-trading
Popcorn Displays Australia Pty Limited	2/60-62 Clarence St, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia	100%	Design and manufacture of point of sale displays
Popcorn Displays USA Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Design and manufacture of point of sale displays
Smoke and Mirrors Productions Limited* (UK company no. 03012951)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Pre-media production and creative services
Tag Acquisitions Limited* (UK company no. 06346620)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Non-trading
Tag Belgium SA	Chaussée de Charleroi, 112, Saint Gilles, 1060 Brussels, Belgium	100%	Holding company
Tag Europe Limited* (UK company no. 02299109)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services

# 29 Subsidiaries and related undertakings (continued)

	<b>3</b> , ,		
Name Tag EquityCo Limited	Address of the registered office c/o TMF (Cayman) Limited, Second Floor, The Grand Pavilion, Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, PO Box 10338, Shedden Road, Grand Cayman, KY-1003, Cayman	Interest 100%	Nature of business Holding company
Tag India Private Limited	Islands 147, Tribhuvan Complex,Ishwar Nagar, Mathura Road, New Delhi, 110065, India	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Pac Limited* (UK company no. 06434923)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Response Limited* (UK company no. 02656579)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Sao Paulo Servicos de Consult Ltda.	Rua Wisard, no.305, Sala 52, Edificio W305, Bairro Vila Madalena, CEP 05434-080, Sao Paulo, Brazil	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Storage Limited	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Non-trading
Tag Topco Limited* (UK company no. 07535335)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
Tag Worldwide (Shanghai) Co Ltd.	Unit 05-06, 6F, Tower I, Shanghai Arch, 523 Lou Shan Guan Road, Shanghai 200051, P.R.China	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Worldwide (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.	77 Robinson Road, #11-03, Robinson 77, Singapore, 068896, Singapore	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Worldwide Australia Pty Ltd	Level 2, 60-62 Clarence Street, Sydney, New South Wales 2000, Australia	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Tag Worldwide Group Limited* (UK company no. 01031786)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain
Tag Worldwide USA Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Taylor James Ltd	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Pre-media production and creative services
Taylor James Limited* (UK company no. 04799582)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Pre-media production and creative services

# 29 Subsidiaries and related undertakings (continued)

Name	Address of the registered office	Interest	Nature of business
Taylor James GmbH	c/o Bunzel and Partner StbG mbH, Kronenstraße 1,10119, Berlin, Germany	100%	Non-trading
Taylor James (Holdings) Limited* (UK company no. 09196645)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
The Stationery Office Holdings Limited	•	100%	Holding Company
The Stationery Office Limited* (UK company no. 03049649)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
The Stationery Office Pension Trustees Limited	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
THP International Limited* (UK company no. 10017658)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Advertising agency
THP USA Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Advertising agency
THP Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Advertising agency
Tagworldwide (Canada) Inc	349 Carlaw Avenue, Suite #301, Toronto ON M4M 2TI,	100%	Advertising agency
Williams Lea (Beijing) Limited	Room 12011, 12/F Excel Center, No.6 Wudinghou Street, Xicheng District, Beijing 100140, P.R.China	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea (Canada), Inc.	3700-1000 rue De La  Gauchetière Montréal	100%	Marketing andcommunication-supply-chain
	H3B4W5, Québec, Canada		services
Williams Lea (Hong Kong) Limited	4007 Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain
Williams Lea (No. 1) Limited	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	In dissolution
Tag Worldwide (Thailand) Company Limited	No. 44, Soi Sukhumvit 64, Sukhumvit Road, Phra Khanong-Tai Sub-district, Phra Khanong District, Bangkok, Thailand	100%	Pre-media production and creative services
Williams Lea Argentina S.A.	c/o Severgnini Robiola Grinberg Larrechea, Reconquista 336, 2ndo Piso, Buenos Aires C1003ABH, Argentina	100%	Dormant
Williams Lea Asia Limited	4007 Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services

## 29 Subsidiaries and related undertakings (continued)

2) Substitution and related dilucita	ikings (commueu)		
Name	Address of the registered office	Interest	Nature of business
Williams Lea (Brazil) Assessoria Em Solucoes Empresariais Ltda.	Rua Wisard, no. 305, Sala 52, Edificio 'W305', Bairro Vila Madalena, Sao Paulo, CEP 05434-080, Brazil	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea (Canada) Holdings, Inc.	44 Chipman Hill Suite 1000, Saint John NB E2L 2A9, Canada	100%	Holding company
Williams Lea CCM Limited* (UK company no. 11605285)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Finland Oy	c/o Revico Grant, Thornton Oy, Paciusgatan 27, Helsinki, 00271, Finland	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
WLT France SAS	33 Rue Lafayette, Paris, 75009, France	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Group Limited* (UK company no. 01627560)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
Williams Lea Holdings Limited* (UK company no. 05696914)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
Williams Lea India Private Limited	Module 0308, D Block Tidel Park, 4 Canal Bank Road, Taramani, Chennai 600113, India	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea International Limited	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Non-trading
Williams Lea Ireland Limited	Ground Floor, 71 Lower Baggot Street, Dublin D02 P593, Ireland	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Italia S.r.l.	Largo Toniolo, 6, 00186, Roma, Italy	100%	Non-trading
Williams Lea Holdings Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Holding Company
Williams Lea (US Acquisitions) Limited	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Holding Company
Williams Lea Inc	620 Eighth Ave, 10th Floor, New York, 10018 USA	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services

## 29 Subsidiaries and related undertakings (continued)

29 Subsidiaries and related underta	ikings (continuea)		
Name Williams Lea Japan Limited	Address of the registered office Gotenyama Trust Tower, 9th Floor, 4-7-35 Kitashinagawa, Shinagawaku, Tokyo 140-0001, Japan	Interest 100%	Nature of business Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Limited* (UK company no. 02119266)	1-5 Poland Street, London, England, W1F 8PR	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea México, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Autopista Mexico-Queretaro Km 34.5, Nave 1, Col. Rancho San Isidro, Cuautitlán Izcalli, C.P. 54740, Mexico	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Private Limited	8 Wilkie Road, #03-01 Wilkie Edge, Singapore 228095, Singapore	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Pty Limited .	Level 2, 60-62 Clarence Street, Sydney, New South Wales 2000, Australia	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea S.L.	c/o Arfa Oliver, Rambla Catalunya, 62 ppal. 1 <sup>a</sup> , 08007 Barcelona, Spain	100%	Non-trading
Williams Lea Sweden AB	c/o Lindebergs Grant Thornton AB, Att: Lena Douhan, Box: 547, 61110 Nyköping, Sweden	100%	In liquidation
Williams Lea Tag (Malaysia) Sdn BHD.	Unit 30-01, Level 30, Tower A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No.8 Jalan Kerinchi, 59000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Tag GmbH	Menuhinstraße 6, 53113, Bonn, Germany	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services
Williams Lea Ukraine LLC	23 A Yaroslaviv Val Street, Kyiv 01034, Ukraine	100%	Dormant
Williams Lea, s.r.o.	Mlynska 326/13, 110 00 Brno, Czech Republic	100%	Dormant
WLT Netherlands B.V.	Anchoragelaan 32, 1118LD Schiphol, The Netherlands	100%	Marketing and communication supply chain services

All of the above subsidiaries are included in the consolidation.

<sup>\*</sup> The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 for these subsidiaries have been exempted from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 by way of parental guarantee from AI Wertheimer Parentco UK Limited.